SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT

This Settlement Agreement (“Agreement™) is entered into by and between the
Thlopthlocco Tribal Town (“Tribe™), a federally-recognized Indian tribe, the Thlopthlocco Tribal
Gaming Commission (“TTGC”) and the Chairwoman of the National Indian Gaming
Commission (“NIGC Chair” or “Chairwoman”), relating to the matters contained in the NIGC
Chairwoman’s Notice of Violation No. NOV-12-1.

RECITALS

1. Whereas, the Indian Gaming Regulatory Act, 25 U.S.C. § 2701 et seq. (“IGRA”),
authorizes the NIGC Chairwoman to issue civil fines for violations of the IGRA, National
Indian Gaming Commission (“NIGC”) regulations, or tribal regulations, ordinances, or
resolutions approved by the NIGC Chairwoman under 25 U.S.C. §§ 2710, 2712. 25
U.S.C.§ 2713(a)(1).

2. Whereas, under the regulations of the NIGC, 25 C.F.R. § 573.3(a), the NIGC
Chairwoman may issue a Notice of Violation (“NOV™) to any person for violations of
any provision of the IGRA, NIGC regulations, or any provision of a tribal gaming
ordinance or resolution approved by the Chairwoman.

3. Whereas, under NIGC regulation, 25 C.F.R. § 573.6(a)(7), it is a substantial violation of
IGRA for a third party to manage all or part of an Indian gaming operation without a
contract approved by the NIGC Chair.

4. Whereas, on August 22, 2012, the NIGC Chairwoman issued NOV-12-1 alleging that the
Tribe permitted the Titan Network LLC (“Titan”), Mercury Gaming Group LLC
(“Mercury”), and the named principals, officers, employees and agents thereof
(collectively, “Titan/Mercury”) to manage the Tribe’s gaming facility, known as the
Golden Pony Casino (Gaming Facility”), from on or about September 6, 2005 to and

including December 31, 2010, without a management contract approved by the NIGC
Chair.

. H Whereas, the Tribe and the NIGC Chairwoman desire to resolve this matter without
undertaking the burdens, costs, risks and uncertainties associated with formal
administrative and judicial proceedings.

6. Therefore, the NIGC Chairwoman, the Tribe have agreed to execute this Agreement and
perform in accordance with the following covenants and conditions:



10.

iy

12,

13.

14.

TERMS OF SETTLEMENT

This Agreement is entered into by the Tribe and the TTGC by duly authorized officers or
agents and the NIGC Chairwoman pursuant to 25 C.F.R. § 575.6(b) and shall be effective
upon execution by the parties (“Effective Date™).

The Tribe admits that Titan, Mercury, and its principals, officers and employees did in
fact manage the Gaming Facility without an NIGC-approved management contract in
violation of the IGRA and its implementing regulations.

The Tribe acknowledges that IGRA and NIGC regulations authorize a third party to

manage a gaming operation or a part thereof only under a management contract that has
been approved by the NIGC Chair.

The Tribe admits that it did not submit the executed management agreement between it
and Mercury Gaming to the NIGC as required by NIGC regulations.

The Tribe agrees that the NIGC possesses jurisdiction over this action, and that the NIGC

Chairwoman has authority to levy and collect civil fines for such violations. 25 U.S.C. §
2713(a).

The Tribe agrees to pay a civil fine of three hundred thousand dollars ($300,000.00).

Fifty thousand dollars ($50,000.00) of the fine shall be due within sixty (60) days after
the Effective Date of this Agreement, made payable to the U.S. Treasury and delivered to
the NIGC at 1441 L Street N.W., Suite 9100, Washington, D.C. 20005. The remaining
two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000.00) will be suspended pending completion
of the corrective actions set forth in Section Fourteen (14), below. If all corrective

actions are completed, two hundred fifty thousand dollars ($250,000.00) of the fine will
be forgiven.

The NIGC Chairwoman acknowledges that, prior to the execution of this Settlement
Agreement, the Tribe and the TTGC took affirmative steps to correct the circumstances
giving rise to this matter by severing all business ties involving Indian gaming with Titan
and Mercury, including all known principals, officers, employees and agents thereof, and
pledge to assume full managerial and operational control over the Golden Pony Casino
(“Casino”) through its Thlopthlocco Economic Development Authority (“TEDA”) Board
of Directors. While such actions represent a significant step toward compliance, the
following additional corrective actions are required by the Tribe and the TTGC:

A. The Tribe, TTGC and/or any other tribal entity shall prohibit Titan and
Mercury, including all known and future principals, officers, employees
and agents thereof, and/or any entity owned in whole or part or otherwise
associated with Titan/Mercury or Anthony DeMartino, Jr., Michael





















